RECEIVED 08-04-2020 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

### STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT III APPEAL CASE NO. 2020AP940

BROWN COUNTY,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

BROWN COUNTY TAXPAYERS ASSOCIATION and

FRANK BENNETT,

Defendants-Third-Party Plaintiffs-Appellants,

v.

PETER BARCA, SECRETARY,
WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE,
Third-Party Defendant-Respondent.

Appeal from the Circuit Court for Brown County Case No. 18-CV-640 The Honorable John P. Zakowski Presiding

## DEFENDANTS-THIRD-PARTY PLAINTIFFS-APPELLANTS' BRIEF AND APPENDIX

Richard M. Esenberg, WI Bar No. 1005622
Anthony F. LoCoco, WI Bar No. 1101773
Lucas T. Vebber, WI Bar No. 1067543

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE PRESENTED

**Issue**: Whether Plaintiff-Respondent Brown County's sales and use tax, which commits over one hundred million dollars of tax revenue to new spending, violates Wis. Stat. §77.70, which mandates that "county sales and use taxes may be imposed *only* for the purpose of *directly reducing* the property tax levy." (Emphases added.)

<u>Circuit Court Decision</u>: The Circuit Court concluded that the County had directly reduced its property tax levy by preventing a hypothetical increase in the levy to pay for the new spending and that, therefore, the County's sales and use tax does not violate Wis. Stat. §77.70. (R.103:28.)

Case 2020AP000940 Brief of Appellants Filed 08-04-2020 Page 8 of 63

#### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument would be useful to clarify any questions that the Court may have due to the complexity of some of the arguments and the fact that this is a case of first impression.

The opinion in this case should be published as it will enunciate a new rule of law and decide a case of substantial and continuing public interest.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

By statute, Wisconsin counties are authorized to adopt a sales and use tax in the amount of 0.5 percent of the sales or purchase price. Wis. Stat. §77.70. The Legislature's directive that these taxes "may be imposed *only* for the purpose of *directly reducing* the property tax levy," *id.* (emphases added), is the crux of this case.

In 2017 Brown County enacted a sales and use tax under §77.70 ("the County Sales Tax"). But instead of applying the funds (over one hundred million dollars) to directly reducing the property tax levy as required, Brown County is unquestionably using it to pay for new spending.

The Circuit Court concluded that Wis. Stat. §77.70 does not impose any restrictions on the use of sales tax revenue and that, even if it does, Brown County is using the sales tax to pay for new spending that *could* have been funded through increased property taxes; that there exists a "decrease" in a theoretical "increase" in property taxes; and that therefore the sales taxes have been used to directly reduce property taxes.

Defendants-Third-Party Plaintiffs-Appellants Brown County Taxpayers Association and Brown County taxpayer Frank Bennett (collectively, "BCTA") will show that §77.70 does indeed restrict the use of

sales tax revenue and that the County's new tax here did not directly reduce the property tax levy for Brown County taxpayers. Moreover, even under the County's argument (as adopted by the Circuit Court), the new tax, at best, might have resulted in an *indirect* and *hypothetical* reduction of the property tax levy but the undisputed facts show that in reality the County's new tax did not result in a property tax reduction at all. In 2017, Brown County's property tax levy was \$86,661,972 and in 2018 (after the tax) it was \$90,676,735, an actual increase of \$4,014,763 or about 5%.

Consequently, at issue before this Court is a single legal question of first impression in the courts of Wisconsin: where a county pays for new capital projects by imposing a sales tax, has it "directly reduc[ed] the property tax levy" within the meaning of Wis. Stat. §77.70? The Circuit Court answered that question in the affirmative. This Court should reverse.

#### Factual Background

On May 17, 2017, the Brown County Board of Supervisors enacted an ordinance creating a 0.5% sales and use tax (the "Ordinance"), scheduled to go into effect on January 1, 2018. (R.1:5; 3.) According to the Ordinance, the \$147,000,000 that the County Sales Tax is expected to raise over its sixyear duration is dedicated to be spent on the following new projects:

- 1) Expo Hall Project \$15,000,000
- 2) Infrastructure, Roads and Facilities Projects \$60,000,000
- 3) Jail and Mental Health Projects \$20,000,000
- 4) Library Project \$20,000,000
- 5) Maintenance at Resch Expo Center Project \$10,000,000
- 6) Medical Examiner and Public Safety Projects -
- \$10,000,000
- 7) Museum Project \$1,000,000
- 8) Parks and Fairgrounds Project \$6,000,000
- 9) Stem Research Center Project \$5,000,000

(R.3:1.)

In 2017, the Brown County Executive issued a 2018 budget proposal that was consistent with the newly-passed ordinance. (R.9:13, 34-39; *see* R.15:3.) On November 1, 2017, the Brown County Board of Supervisors made minor amendments to the budget proposal (not relevant here) and adopted it as amended as Brown County's 2018 budget. (*See* R.9:14; 15:3; 59:95-167.) On November 7, 2017, the Brown County Executive signed the 2018 budget with no vetoes. (R.9:14; 15:3.) The budget created a special fund "to account for the collection and use of .05% [sic] County sales tax imposed for capital improvements." (R.58:90.) The budget estimated that the County Sales Tax would raise \$22,458,333 in 2018 and called for spending \$17,895,065 of that revenue. (R.59:39.) That money was budgeted to be spent on the following new projects:

1) Highway Projects - \$9,264,687

- 2) Facility Building Upgrades \$250,000
- 3) Jail Projects: Sheriff Jail Pods \$1,071,258
- 4) Library Branch Expansion/Relocation \$1,000,000
- 5) Medical Examiner Facility \$528,120
- 6) Museum Permanent Exhibit \$500,000
- 7) Parks Improvements \$500,000
- 8) Brown County Research and Business Park: STEM Innovation Center \$4,200,000
- 9) Public Safety Communications Upgrades: 9-1-1 & TS SDC UPS Replacement \$581,000

(R.60:179-80.)

In 2017, Brown County's property tax levy was \$86,661,972. (R.9:14; 15:3.) In 2018, Brown County's property tax levy was increased to \$90,676,735, an increase of \$4,014,763 or about 5%. (*Id.*) Moreover, as explained in detail below, Brown County did not have room in its statutory levy limit to increase its property tax levy to pay for all of the \$17,895,065 of new spending proposed for 2018.

#### Procedural Background

On January 2, 2018, BCTA sued Brown County in Brown County Circuit Court seeking a declaration that the Ordinance violated Wis. Stat. §77.70. (R.115:2.) The Circuit Court, the Honorable William M. Atkinson presiding, dismissed that case without prejudice on March 1, 2018 due to BCTA's failure to file a notice of claim under Wis. Stat. §893.80. (*Id.*)

BCTA thereupon promptly served Brown County with said notice of claim dated March 1, 2018. (R.4.) Brown County disallowed the claim on or about May 22, 2018, but instead of waiting for BCTA to sue it again, Brown County filed the present lawsuit against BCTA in Brown County Circuit Court on May 23, 2018 seeking a declaration as to the validity of the Ordinance. (R.1; 5.) BCTA counterclaimed and filed a third-party complaint against the Secretary of the Department of Revenue ("DOR"), whom BCTA viewed as a necessary or permissive party. (R.9; *id.* at 11-12.) Following briefing on cross-motions for summary judgment by Brown County and BCTA, (*see* R.38-80, 87-97), the Circuit Court, the Honorable John P. Zakowski presiding, held oral argument on August 29, 2019. (R.127.)

On March 24, 2020, the Circuit Court issued its decision and order granting Brown County's motion for summary judgment, denying BCTA's motion for summary judgment, and upholding the validity of Brown County's ordinance. (R.103.)

On March 31, 2020, BCTA filed a motion for reconsideration or clarification of the Circuit Court's decision and order objecting to the Circuit Court's incorrect statements in its decision to the effect that BCTA "did not avail [itself] of the opportunities to dialog with [its] elected officials and

present [its] argument to them" before filing a lawsuit and that the courts were "not the proper venue for [BCTA] to have started [its] campaign." (R.103:23, 31-32; R.107.) The Circuit Court denied the motion but clarified that, although its observations about the failure of BCTA to raise the issue as a political question were incorrect, they were in fact irrelevant to the legal question before it. (R.115:4.)

Judgment was entered on May 18, 2020, (R.120), and BCTA filed its notice of appeal on May 20, 2020, (R.122).

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

Whether a circuit court correctly granted summary judgment is a question of law reviewed de novo, as are issues of statutory interpretation. *See, e.g., Noffke ex rel. Swenson v. Bakke*, 2009 WI 10, ¶9, 315 Wis.2d 350, 760 N.W.2d 156.

#### ARGUMENT

The undisputed facts show that Brown County enacted the County Sales Tax and is using the proceeds from the tax to pay for \$147,000,000 in new spending. Instead of reducing the property tax levy, Brown County raised it. Because state law requires that county sales and use tax proceeds

must be used to "directly reduce the property tax levy," Wis. Stat. §77.70, the County Sales Tax is unlawful.

Page 15 of 63

# I. THE COUNTY SALES TAX VIOLATES THE PLAIN LANGUAGE OF WIS. STAT. §77.70

The pertinent portion of §77.70 reads as follows:

Any county desiring to impose county sales and use taxes under this subchapter may do so by the adoption of an ordinance, stating its purpose and referring to this subchapter. The rate of the tax imposed under this section is 0.5 percent of the sales price or purchase price. Except as provided in s. 66.0621 (3m),<sup>[1]</sup> the county sales and use taxes may be imposed only for the purpose of directly reducing the property tax levy and only in their entirety as provided in this subchapter.

(Emphasis added.) One would think that the italicized language above is self-explanatory. Counties may impose sales and use taxes, but must use the proceeds to directly reduce their property tax levies—no other purpose is authorized. To determine whether a county sales and use tax is lawful, then, the question is simply this: did the County's property tax levy decrease by the amount of sales and use tax raised?

The answer in this case is no. Instead, the County used the revenue to fund a dramatic increase in spending and *still raised* its property tax levy by about \$4,000,000. These actions run contrary to the plain language of Wis.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> That exception is not at issue here.

Stat. §77.70, which is supported by the legislative history of the statute and the early practice of Wisconsin's counties. The County Sales Tax is unlawful and should be declared void.<sup>2</sup>

# A. The Plain Language of Wis. Stat. §77.70 Requires County Sales Tax Revenues to Be Used Only to Directly Reduce the Property Tax Levy

The methodology used to interpret statutes in Wisconsin is well-established. "[S]tatutory interpretation 'begins with the language of the statute." State ex rel. Kalal v. Cir. Ct. for Dane County, 2004 WI 58, ¶45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110 (Seider v. O'Connell, 2000 WI 76, ¶43, 236 Wis. 2d 211, 612 N.W.2d 659). "Statutory language is given its common, ordinary, and accepted meaning, except that technical or specially-defined words or phrases are given their technical or special definitional meaning." Id., ¶45. Because none of the words at issue are technical or specially-defined, resort must be had to the common, ordinary, and accepted meaning of the words used in Wis. Stat. §77.70. Dictionaries are an accepted source for this type of meaning. See id., ¶¶41, 53-54. "[I]f the meaning of

-

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  The parties agree that the phrase "only in their entirety" as used in Wis. Stat. § 77.70 is a directive that if a sales tax is imposed, it must be imposed in the amount of 0.5% and not some lesser percentage.

the statute is plain, [a court] ordinarily stops the inquiry." *Sands v. Whitnall Sch. Dist.*, 2008 WI 89, ¶15, 312 Wis. 2d 1, 754 N.W.2d 439.

Page 17 of 63

The pertinent language—"the county sales and use taxes may be [1] *imposed* only for the [2] *purpose* of [3] *directly* [4] *reducing* the property tax levy" (emphases added)—is not difficult to understand.

"Impose" means "to establish or apply as compulsory: LEVY." Webster's New Collegiate Dictionary 571 (1981) (illustrating with the example "[impose] a tax").<sup>3</sup>

"Purpose" means "something set up as an object or end to be attained." *Id.* at 930. "Direct" means "from point to point without deviation," "by the shortest way," "from the source without interruption or diversion," and "without an intervening agency or step." *Id.* at 320.

"Reduce" means "to diminish in size, amount, extent, or number." *Id.* at 962 (illustrating with the example "[reduce] taxes).

Thus when the Legislature commands in §77.70 that a county sales and use tax "may be imposed only for the purpose of directly reducing the

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> As discussed below, the relevant version of Wis. Stat. § 77.70 was enacted in the 1980s, so BCTA has cited a dictionary from that decade. *See Landis v. Physicians Ins. Co. of Wisconsin*, 2001 WI 86, ¶36, 245 Wis. 2d 1, 628 N.W.2d 893.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> "Directly" means "in a direct manner." *Directly*, Webster's New Collegiate Dictionary 320 (1981).

Case 2020AP000940 Brief of Appellants Filed 08-04-2020 Page 18 of 63

property tax levy" it is mandating two things: (i) a county may apply the tax only to attain the object of diminishing the amount of the property tax levy; and (ii) this diminishment must occur by the shortest route possible from the source—that is, from the collection of the sales tax revenue—without any intervening steps. Step one: impose the sales tax. Step two: decrease the property tax levy by the amount of the proceeds.

Not only is directly reducing the levy *a* purpose for imposing a sales tax, the statute establishes that it is the "only" permissible purpose. "Only" means "as a single fact or instance and nothing more or different," synonymous with "solely" and "exclusively." *Id.* at 795. Therefore, revenue from the sales tax can be used solely and exclusively to lower the property tax levy and nothing more or different, such as increased spending.

In sum, Wisconsin Stat. §77.70 is concisely written and easily understandable. The words "impose," "purpose," and "reduce" are in common use, and the legislature's use of "directly" and "only" as brisk modifiers eliminate any doubt as to the statute's scope and application.

# B. The Legislative History of Wis. Stat. §77.70 Supports the Plain Language of Wis. Stat. §77.70

Although it is not necessary to consult it here, the legislative history of the statute further confirms that the obvious meaning of the statute is the

Case 2020AP000940 Brief of Appellants Filed 08-04-2020 Page 19 of 63

correct one. *See Sands*, 312 Wis. 2d 1, ¶15 ("[T]he court may also consult extrinsic sources 'to confirm or verify a plain-meaning interpretation." (quoting *Kalal*, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶51)).

Prior to 1985, counties could impose sales and use taxes, but the proceeds from such taxes had to be distributed to the cities, villages, and towns within the county. *See* Wis. Stat. §§77.70 (1983), 77.76(4) (1983). However, no county had enacted a sales tax, (R.41:9), "presumably because none of the proceeds of the tax could be used by county government and because counties could not control how the net proceeds of such taxes would be used by other local units of government within the county." (R.59:168-69.)

In 1985, the Legislature changed § 77.76 to allow counties to use the proceeds from county sales taxes themselves. *See* 1985 Wis. Act 29, § 1500x. Property tax relief was a major topic of debate during that year's state budget process; for example, proposals were made to raise the state sales tax and earmark the money as direct credits on property tax bills. (*See* R.59:183-85.) Later in the year, the Legislature took up a mostly technical bill to improve the administration of the county sales tax. (*See* R.59:175.) During the process, Senator Russ Feingold offered a successful amendment to add

language requiring the sales tax to be used only "for the purpose of property tax relief." (*Id.* at 176-79.) Publicly, Senator Feingold called the sales tax inequitable and said that if counties were going to use it, "we should ensure that the revenue it raises goes directly toward lowering property tax bills." (*Id.* at 189.) In the Assembly, the vaguer phrase "property tax relief" was replaced with the even stricter "directly reducing the property tax levy." (*Id.* at 180-81.) That language was passed by the Legislature and signed by the Governor. 1985 Wis. Act 41.

Thus, the history of the enactment of Wis. Stat. §77.70—a focus on driving down property tax bills accompanied by a revealing tightening of the relevant language from tax "relief" to "direct[]" tax "reduc[tion]"—confirms the meaning of the statute: counties may adopt sales and use taxes, but may only do so to directly reduce the property tax levy.

# C. The Practice of Counties Implementing Sales Taxes Supports the Plain Language of Wis. Stat. §77.70

Although, again, it should not be necessary here, this Court can also look to the actual practice of counties implementing sales taxes shortly after the law was changed in 1985. "Where an act's language is ambiguous . . . courts may find interpretive guidance in the way the statute was construed when it first became operative." 2B Sutherland Statutory Construction §

49:1 (7th ed.); *cf. Dairyland Greyhound Park, Inc. v. Doyle*, 2006 WI 107, ¶19, 295 Wis. 2d 1, 719 N.W.2d 408 (applying this rule to constitutional provisions). The clear trend among counties shows that the earliest counties to adopt a sales tax—those closest to the conditions that led to the statutory change—were much more likely to pass an ordinance consistent with the clear import of Wis. Stat. §77.70.

In the first two years after §77.70 was changed, a dozen counties implemented a sales tax. (R.41:27-28, 33, 47, 58, 60; R.42:12, 13, 22-24, 37-38, 41, 45, 51.) None of them expressly dedicated sales tax revenue for broad categories of spending or new projects.

Anecdotal evidence from the period further confirms that counties initially understood the sales tax law this way. For example, shortly after the sales tax law was passed, Dane County considered enacting a sales tax. (R.41:24.) If Dane County had enacted a sales tax, it was estimated to "lower the county property tax levy by an estimated \$6.5 million in 1986 and \$13 million in 1987, the first full year on which revenues could be collected." (*Id.*) Similarly, the County Board Chairman of Barron County, the first county to enact a sales tax, stated that the revenue "offsets the property tax. We're using it as direct relief to property tax." (*Id.* at 12-13.) Indeed,

ironically for purposes of the present litigation, Brown County itself was among the first of the counties to enact a sales tax, in 1985 (it was repealed before it went into effect), and the County "earmarked the revenue for a credit on individual property tax bills." (*Id.* at 12, 14.) The then-Brown County Executive, in a letter to the Brown County Board, referred to the sales tax being used as a "Real Estate Tax Credit." (*Id.* at 21.)

Over the next decade, the vast majority of counties either quoted the statute in their ordinances or included even more restrictive language in ordinances adopting a sales tax. (R.41:25, 26, 29-30, 34, 40, 41, 42-43, 44, 45, 46, 51-52, 59; R.42:1, 2, 11, 16, 19, 25, 26, 27, 28, 29-33, 34, 35, 42, 47, 48-49, 50, 58 (29 counties).) However, a handful started to dedicate sales tax revenue to specific projects, (R.42:3, 17-18, 57 (three counties)), or to permit spending on new projects in broad categories, (R.41:37-38; 42:7, 20-21, 39-40, 52-54 (five counties).)

It was only after 1998, when then-Attorney General James Doyle issued a formal opinion erroneously concluding that §77.70 allowed spending on new projects (*see infra*, Section II), that counties more noticeably started using the sales taxes as an excuse to increase spending instead of decreasing the property tax levy. After that point, while two

counties used language even more restrictive than present in the statute (R.41:48, 53-54) and six counties quoted the statute (R.41:39, 49; 42:4-6, 8-10, 46, 59-60), nine allowed for increased spending, (R.41:31-32, 35-36, 50, 55-56, 57, 14-15, 36, 43-44, 55-56).

Like legislative history, county practice is of course not determinative here since no amount of practice can override the terms of a statute. But to the extent this Court is inclined to examine county practice to assist it in interpreting what the relevant words mean, practice shows that the earliest counties to adopt a sales tax clearly understood what it was actually for. Only as years and decades passed and institutional memories lapsed did some counties begin to break the rules, spurred on by an ill-conceived (*see* Section II.B., *infra*) 1998 attorney general's opinion on the meaning of Wis. Stat. 877.70.

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