RECEIVED
06-15-2021
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
SUPREME COURT

WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

APPEAL NO: 2020AP940

BROWN COUNTY,
Plaintiff-Respondent,

V.

BROWN COUNTY TAXPAYERS ASSOCIATION and FRANK BENNETT,

Defendants-Third-Party Plaintiffs-Appellants,

V.

PETER BARCA, SECRETARY, WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE, Third-Party Defendant-Respondent.

On Certification from District III of the Wisconsin Court of Appeals following Appeal from the Circuit Court for Brown County, the Honorable John P. Zakowski, Circuit Court Judge, Presiding
Circuit Court Case No: 18-CV-640

RESPONSE BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT BROWN COUNTY

Andrew T. Phillips, S.B.W. No. 1022232
Steven L. Nelson, S.B.W. No. 1009779

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

ARGUMENT

This case involves the interpretation of Wis. Stat. §77.70. Interpretation of a statute is a question of law this Court reviews de novo. Capoun Revocable Trust v. Ansari, 2000 WI App 83, ¶6, 234 Wis. 2d 335, 610 N.W.2d 129.

I. THE ORDINANCE COMPLIES WITH THE PLAIN MEANING AND LEGISLATIVE INTENT OF WIS. STAT. §77.70.

The Ordinance is presumptively valid. B'nal B'rith Found., 59 Wis. 2d at 307 (stating where a local government entity enacts an ordinance pursuant to statutory authority, "all presumptions are in favor of its validity, and any person attacking it must make the fact of its invalidity clearly appear") (emphasis added; internal quotation marks omitted).

The Ordinance complies with §77.70's enabling language that permits a county "desiring to impose county sales and use taxes" to do so by ordinance that "stat[es] its purpose" and is "imposed only for the purpose of directly reducing the property tax levy." Brown County enacted the sales and use tax to avoid using the property tax levy to pay for the capital projects identified in the Ordinance. (R.3; App.165; R.44, ¶7.) Accordingly, Brown County enacted the sales and use tax Ordinance "for the purpose of" funding projects that otherwise would have been funded by a countywide property tax. (Id.) Brown County's interpretation of §77.70 is supported by years of consistent application under the guidance of the AG Opinion and DOR, as well as the practice of dozens of other counties.

BCTPA contends the Ordinance is invalid because it contravenes §77.70, which BCTPA interprets to require counties to offset sales and use tax revenues with a dollar-fordollar decrease in the property tax levy. (BCTPA Br., p. 10.) BCTPA is wrong. BCTPA's interpretation is contrary to the statute's text and the legislature's intent. Nowhere in §77.70 does any language mandating a dollar-for-dollar offset appear. Nor has the legislature enacted any means to effectuate the dollar-for-dollar offset BCTPA insists §77.70 requires. Therefore, it is clear the legislature has not contemplated the statute could even possibly mandate such an offset. As the circuit court concluded: BCTPA's interpretation "reads mechanisms into the statute that simply are not present because the Wisconsin Legislature did not put them there. . . . If [§77.70] were to require a dollar-for-dollar reduction of a county's property tax levy, then the Wisconsin Legislature would have said so in the body of the statute, and it would have spelled out the process for Wisconsin counties to follow." (R.103:18, 19; App.118, 119 (emphasis added).) The circuit court was correct, and this Court should affirm.

A. Under the Plain Meaning of Wis. Stat. §77.70, Wisconsin Counties May Enact a Sales and Use Tax to Fund Projects They Otherwise Could Fund Through the Property Tax Levy.

The Ordinance complies with the plain meaning of Wis. Stat. §77.70. An analysis of the text of §77.70 and a comparison of §77.70 with closely-related or surrounding statutes—such as Wis. Stats. §§77.705, 77.706—shows §77.70 permits Wisconsin counties to enact sales and use taxes that fund projects they otherwise could fund through the property tax levy.

1. The Ordinance Complies with the Text of Wis. Stat. §77.70: Brown County Imposed a Sales and Use Tax "Only for the Purpose of Directly Reducing the Property Tax Levy."

The goal of statutory interpretation is to discern the legislature's intent. *Doe v. Am. Nat'l Red Cross*, 176 Wis. 2d 610, 616, 500 N.W.2d 264 (1993). Statutory interpretation begins with the language of the statute. *State ex rel. Kalal v. Cir. Ct. for Dane Cnty.*, 2004 WI 58, ¶¶45-46, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110. "In construing or interpreting a statute the court is not at liberty to disregard the plain, clear words of the statute." *Id.*, ¶46. Courts presume the legislature chooses

"its terms carefully and precisely to express its meaning." Ball v. District No. 4, 117 Wis. 2d 529, 539, 345 N.W.2d 389 (Ct. App. 1984).

Section 77.70 permits a county "desiring to impose county sales and use taxes" to do so "by the adoption of an ordinance" that "stat[es] its purpose," "refer[s] to" Chapter 77, and "impose[s]" the sales and use tax at a rate of 0.5% "only for the purpose of directly reducing the property tax levy " Wis. Stat. §77.70.

There is no dispute the Ordinance complies with the first three elements of §77.70: (1) the County chose to adopt a sales and use tax and did so by Ordinance; (2) the Ordinance states its purpose and refers to Chapter 77; and (3) the Ordinance imposes a sales and use tax at a rate of 0.5%. (R.3:1; App.165.) BCTPA is wrong when it contends the Ordinance does not comply with the fourth element of §77.70 -i.e., the sales and use tax is imposed "only for the purpose of reducing the property tax levy."

The Ordinance commits Brown County to using the revenue from the sales and use tax only to fund projects the County otherwise would have funded from the property tax levy. (R.103; App.101-32; R.44, ¶7.) The Ordinance and

Brown County's action in this regard are compliant with §77.70 for three inter-related reasons. *First*, §77.70 contains enabling language that gives counties latitude as to how to reduce the property tax levy. *Second*, the sales and use tax enables Brown County to decrease its debt service—and, consequently, its property tax levy—over the six-year life of the Ordinance. *Third*, while the Ordinance's mill rate freeze is not expressly required by the statute, the freeze helps ensure the County remains compliant with §77.70.

Enabling language. Section 77.70 contains enabling language that permits counties to enact a sales and use tax ordinance if they so "desir[e]." Wis. Stat. §77.70. If counties choose to enact such an ordinance, the ordinance must "impose[]" a sales and use tax at a rate of 0.5% and "stat[e] its purpose" of "directly reducing the property tax levy." *Id*.

While the statute *allows* counties to "impose" a sales and use tax "for the purpose of directly reducing the property tax levy," the statute does not require counties to "use" or "spend" sales and use tax proceeds only for that purpose. Id. In other words, the enabling language allows a sales and use tax to be imposed, but the statute does not prescribe or restrict how sales and use tax revenue must be spent. Id. The statute

does not contain any terms such as "offset," "deduct," "subtract," or "retire" that might delineate how a county must spend sales and use tax proceeds. *See id.*; *contra* Wis. Stats. §§77.705-.706 (both providing that sales and use tax revenue "*shall* be used *exclusively* to *retire* the district's debt") (emphasis added). Thus, §77.70 does not direct what projects sales and use tax proceeds must fund, does not require an offset, and does not address how a (non-existent) offset from the property tax levy would be applied.

Decrease in the property tax levy. BCTPA engages in unsupported speculation about Brown County's ability to borrow funds, in an effort to cast doubt on whether the County could have funded its capital projects by issuing debt. (BCTPA Br., pp. 31-33.) BCTPA does so to attempt to circumvent the undisputed fact that the County, just as it had done in previous years, would have funded the projects identified in the Ordinance by issuing debt, had the County not enacted the Ordinance.³ (R.44, ¶7.)

³ BCTPA further attempts to undermine this uncontroverted fact by contending the County's affiant lacks personal knowledge and his statement the County would have funded the capital projects through borrowing had the County not enacted the sales and use tax lacks the requisite foundation. (BCTPA Br., p. 33.) BCTPA is incorrect. The affiant is the County's Finance Director who averred to his personal

Contrary to BCTPA's assertions, the County's ability to borrow is not theoretical. The County issued new debt totaling \$12.24 million in 2015, \$15.35 million in 2016, and \$29.23 million in 2017. (See 2017 Comprehensive Annual Finance Report for Brown County, p. 108, available at https://www.browncountywi.gov/departments/administration/ finance/2017-annual-comprehensive-financial-report/ (last visited June 9, 2021).) Such a trend demonstrates the County had the ability to borrow \$147,000,000 over the six-year life of the Ordinance. (*Id.*; see also R.44, ¶7.)

BCTPA further argues the Court should discount the prospect of Brown County borrowing \$147,000,000 because the County's borrowing such sum would "undermine" the constitutional debt cap. (BCTPA Br., p. 34.) BCTPA's premise is faulty. The debt cap is 5% of taxable property. Wis. Const. art. XI, §3(2). Equalized value of Brown County

knowledge, (R.44, ¶2), and provided foundation for his statement, (see id., ¶¶3-16, 23-38).

BCTPA moved for summary judgment, reflecting its agreement there is no dispute of material fact. (R.39, 40.) BCTPA has not admitted any evidence to rebut Brown County's evidence that it would have funded its capital projects through debt. BCTPA's disagreement with the Finance Director's statement is predicated on BCTPA's own speculation. Speculation is no basis on which a presumptively valid ordinance can be rebutted, cf. B'nal B'rith Found., 59 Wis. 2d at 307, or on which a genuine dispute of material fact can be created, see Wis. Stat. §802.08(2).

Filed 06-15-2021

property in 2020 was \$24.6 billion, which means the County's constitutional borrowing cap was \$1.23 billion last year.

(https://www.revenue.wi.gov/Pages/SLF/EqualizedValue.asp x (last visited June 9, 2021).)

When the County issues debt without otherwise modifying other budget commitments, the property tax levy increases. (R.44, ¶¶7, 28-29, 33.) Thus, by funding projects that otherwise would have been funded by the property tax levy, the sales and use tax acts as a substitute for the Debt Levy.

The effect is this: When a county funds projects through a sales and use tax that otherwise would have been funded by the property tax levy, the property tax levy is reduced. (R.68:2.) As the May 8, 2017 Brown County Executive Committee meeting minutes reflect, the Ordinance will result in a decrease in the debt service and, consequently, a decrease in the total property tax levy. (Id.) The sales and use tax has enabled the County to "stop bonding," and over its six-year life, the tax will decrease the County's debt approximately \$69 million, from \$134 million to \$65 million. (Id.)

BCTPA's repeated reference to an approximate \$4,000,000 increase in the property tax levy from 2017 to 2018 is misleading. (BCTPA Br., pp. 3, 7, 11, 26-27.) BCTPA accounts for only the first year of the sales and use tax and, thus, BCTPA's one-year snapshot disregards the actual property tax savings over the 72-month life of the *Ordinance* due to the decreased debt service payments. (R.68:2; R.44, ¶¶27-34.) Because funding the Ordinance projects through debt financing would have cost Brown County property-taxpayers \$13,627,943.36 in payments over the six-year life of the Ordinance and \$47,000,000 in interest payments over the twenty-year life of the loans, the Debt Levy—and, consequently, the overall property tax levy—may well have increased more than \$4,000,000 from 2017 to 2018 absent the sales and use tax. (R.44, ¶¶29-30.) Brown County delivered to its residents "guarantee[d] tax relief" by replacing the property tax levy used to service debt with the sales and use tax. (R.68:2.)

Mill rate freeze. The Ordinance's mill rate freeze helps ensure compliance with §77.70 because the freeze prohibits any increase in the mill rate—i.e., any proportional increase in property taxes—during the term of the Ordinance.

(R.3:1; App.165.) If the mill rate increases, the Ordinance automatically sunsets. (*Id.*)

As shown, the text of the Ordinance complies with §77.70's requirement that a sales and use tax may be "imposed only for the purpose of directly reducing the [County's] property tax levy[.]"

> 2. A Comparison of Wis. Stat. §77.70 with Wis. Stats. §§77.705, 77.706 Shows the Legislature Did Not Intend Wis. Stat. §77.70 to Require a Dollarfor-Dollar Offset.

As part of a plain meaning analysis, a statute "is interpreted in the context in which it is used; not in isolation but as part of a whole; in relation to the language of surrounding or closely related statutes[.]" Kalal, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶46. A comparison of Wis. Stat. §77.70 with other "surrounding or closely related" statutes in Chapter 77 shows the legislature did not intend §77.70 to require the offset BCTPA urges.

The 1995 Miller Park Tax (Wis. Stat. §77.705) and the 1999 Lambeau Field Tax (Wis. Stat. §77.706) explicitly mandate that sales and use tax proceeds be spent to pay the respective stadium districts' debts dollar-for-dollar, while

§77.70 does not contain an explicit mandate as to how a county may spend sales and use tax proceeds. *Compare* Wis, Stats. §§77.705-.706 *with* Wis. Stat. §77.70. Both stadium tax statutes provide that the respective stadium districts "may impose a sales tax and a use tax"; and that the revenue derived from a sales and use tax authorized by the statutes "shall be used exclusively to retire the district's debt." Wis. Stats. §§77.705-.706 (emphasis added).

Thus, while §77.705, §77.706, and §77.70 all contain language authorizing the imposition of a sales and use tax, the stadium tax statutes contain a key limitation that is absent from §77.70: The stadium tax statutes contain language in a separate clause mandating that proceeds from sales and use taxes "shall be used exclusively to retire" each stadium district's debts. Wis. Stats. §§77.705-.706 (emphasis added). In other words, the legislature authorized the sales and use tax to pay for the stadiums, but then separately mandated the tax proceeds be spent to pay the respective districts' debts dollar-for-dollar, instead of being used for any other purpose. *Id.*; (see also R.103:20; App.120). In contrast, §77.70 authorizes a sales and use tax and provides that the "purpose" must be

for levy reduction, but §77.70 does not specifically mandate how counties spend their sales and use tax revenue.

Section 77.70's contrast with §§77.705-.706 shows the legislature did not intend for §77.70 to require counties to offset sales and use tax proceeds dollar-for-dollar from the property tax levy. *Ball*, 117 Wis. 2d at 539 (the legislature chooses "its terms carefully and precisely to express its meaning"); (R.103:20, 26). If the legislature had intended to enact in §77.70 a strict spending constraint, it would have done so. *Ball*, 117 Wis. 2d at 539.

In this Court, BCTPA now contends for the first time the stadium taxes "do not direct the expenditure of Stadium Tax revenue" but, instead, direct the expenditure of "leftover money." (BCTPA Br., p. 42.) BCTPA is incorrect. The above discussion shows the stadium tax statutes mandate the revenue be spent to retire the debt of the stadium districts. Wis. Stats. §§77.705-.706. In addition, Wis. Stats. §§229.685(1) and 229.825 contain express limitations on how the stadium tax revenues must be spent. The stadium tax statutes and §§229.685(1), 229.825 show the legislature knows how to direct expenditures when it intends to do so. As does the 2017 amendment to §77.70, which creates an

exception for Wis. Stat. §66.0621(3m). Contrary to BCTPA's assertion, (BCTPA Br., pp. 15-16), the 2017 amendment to §77.70 *supports* the County's interpretation because—just as §§77.705-.706—§66.0621(3m) directs how revenues are to be spent. The legislature did not include such direction in §77.70.

> В. The 1998 Attorney General **Opinion** Supports Brown County's Interpretation of Wis. Stat. §77.70.

The 1998 AG Opinion supports Brown County's interpretation of Wis. Stat. §77.70. Although the Court should reject BCTPA's invitation to abolish the age-old proposition that AG Opinions are presumptively correct, BCTPA's invitation is a non-sequitur. The presumption is not outcome-determinative here: The County's interpretation is consistent with the statute's plain meaning and the legislature's intent, and the Ordinance is presumed to be valid, regardless of whether the AG Opinion is presumed to be correct. B'nal B'rith Found., 59 Wis. 2d at 307.

> 1. \mathbf{AG} 1998 **Opinion** Consistent with the Text of Wis. Stat. §77.70.

AG Opinions hold persuasive value and are deemed "presumptively correct." Schill v. Wis. Rapids Sch. Dist.,

Page 41 of 71

2010 WI 86, ¶126, 327 Wis. 2d 572, 786 N.W.2d 177 (lead BCTPA fails to show the 1998 AG Opinion which interprets Wis. Stat. §77.70 to mean a county may enact a sales and use tax ordinance to finance capital projects that otherwise could be funded by a property tax levy—is wrong. (App.167.)

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